0/9 5-7-86

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Tallahassee, Florida

CASE NO. 67,643

BARNETT BANK OF PALM BEACH COUNTY,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE ESTATE OF LEON HENRY READ, JR., Deceased,

Respondent.

S95 - 3 FEB FAILED C CLERK, SHURD STRIKE By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CROMWELL & REMSEN and FREEMAN W. BARNER, JR., P.A. Barnett Bank Bldg. 2001 Broadway - 6th Floor Riviera Beach, FL 33404 (305) 844-2541 JOHN R. BERANEK, of KLEIN & BERANEK, P.A. Suite 503-Flagler Center 501 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (305) 659-5455

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Barnett Bank filed a claim on an unpaid note against an estate and subsequently filed a Petition for Payment and Enforcement of the Claim. Both the Claim and the Petition were filed in the Probate Division of the Circuit Court for Palm Beach County (R 34-38). The circuit court entered an order on March 22, 1984, directing payment of the claim (R 50-51). The Personal Representative, who is also the lawyer for the estate, appealed and the Fourth District reversed the order and thereafter denied rehearing on August 8, 1985. <u>In re Estate of Read</u>, 472 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). Petitioner filed a notice to invoke

the jurisdiction of this court on September 6, 1985, on the basis of conflict, and this court accepted jurisdiction on January 23, 1986. The present brief is submitted on the merits.

POINTS ON REVIEW

POINT I

THE FOURTH DISTRICT ERRED IN REVERSING THE CIRCUIT COURT'S ORDER DIRECTING PAYMENT OF THE CLAIM AGAINST THE ESTATE WHERE THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE FILED NO OBJECTION TO THE CLAIM OR PETITION AND THE CREDITOR PROVED THAT THE FULL AMOUNT OF THE CLAIM WAS DUE AND OWING.

POINT II

PETITIONER WAS ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON THE ISSUE OF WHETHER THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE WAS ESTOPPED TO ASSERT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In February, 1983, the decedent, Leon Henry Read, Jr., executed a promissory note in the amount of \$100,000 in favor of Barnett Bank (R 37-38). Read died on April 5, 1983; Richard Ralph was appointed personal representative of the estate on April 28, 1983; and the notice of administration was first published on April 29, 1983 (R 15, 26). Mr. Ralph also became the lawyer for the estate and sometime shortly after becoming personal representative/lawyer went to the bank and discussed the estate and the note in

question. These discussions occurred with the bank's president and vice president. At that time he told both of them the claims would be paid without the bank's filing a formal claim.

On October 21, 1983, after expiration of the 3-months claims period, the personal representative wrote the following letter to the vice-president of Barnett Bank. It is important to note that this letter confirmed an earlier conversation very close to the opening of the estate:

21 October 1983

Mr. Lou Marotta Vice President Barnett Bank of Palm Beach P.O. Box 4444 West Palm Beach, Florida 33402

> Re: Leon Henry Read, Jr., Deceased Notes 01-5608155-55 and 01-5608155-56 Our File No. 83-28 RR

Dear Mr. Marotta:

In line with telephone conversation of 12 October 1983, at which time you advised the \$100,000.00 note had accrued interest of \$6,147.97 through Monday, 17 October 1983, and a per diem rate of \$30.14 thereafter, and that the \$32,000.00 note had accrued interest through Monday, 17 October 1983 of \$1,832.50 at a per diem of \$9.64 thereafter, please find enclosed Estate check No. 140 payable to Barnett Bank in the sum of \$33,899.98 for satisfaction of the \$32,000.00 principal note and interest of \$1,832.50 through 24 October 1983. Kindly arrange to furnish me with the referred to note.

I wish to further confirm that we are hopeful of satisfying the note in the principal amount of \$100,000.00 in the near future, as soon as we are able to reach a final evaluation of some corporate stocks subject to a buy-back agreement.

I wish to further confirm my advices to you and Mr. Garrison at the time I opened the estate account, that the estate would recognize the proper amounts due under these notes without the necessity of the bank filing a formal claim.

Inasmuch as I have received on 17 October 1983 correspondence dated 14 October 1983 from Mr. Barner of Messrs. Cromwell & Remsen, I am furnishing him with a copy of this letter.

> Yours faithfully, CONFORMED COPY: RICHARD F. RALPH

RICHARD F. RALPH (See Record p. 48) RFR/1g Encl. cc: Cromwell & Remsen Barnett Bank Building Riviera Beach, Florida 33404 Attn: Freeman W. Barner, Jr., Esq.

Despite this letter and other inquiries from the bank payment was not made and on February 17, 1984, Barnett Bank filed a Statement of Claim based on the unpaid \$100,000 promissory note executed by Read (R 31-32). The claim was served by the Clerk of the Court on the personal representative/lawyer and went unanswered. On February 20,

1984, Barnett Bank filed a separate Petition for Payment and Enforcement of Claim and served Formal Notice By Mail on the personal representative, as provided by Rule 5.040(a)(1), Florida Rules of Probate and Guardianship Procedure (R 34, 39, 50). This Formal Notice specifically required the personal representative to serve and file his written defense within twenty days of service of the petition (R 50). The formal notice specifically advised that the relief demanded would be ordered absent a timely response. The personal representative chose not to respond in any manner.

On March 22, 1984 an ex parte hearing on the petition was held, wherein Barnett Bank proved the unpaid note and also introduced into evidence the personal representative's October 21, 1983 letter which acknowledged the \$100,000 debt plus interest, and confirmed that there was no need to file a claim in the estate (R 48). The circuit court found the full amount of the claim due and owing and granted the petition and ordered the personal representative to pay Barnett Bank \$112,165.50 (R 50). This order of March 22 was served on the personal representative who again did nothing until April 20 when a tardy motion for rehearing was filed. The District Court pointed out that this motion was denied

because it was well beyond the 10 day limit under Probate Rule 5.020(d).

Without ever having properly raised a single issue in the trial court the personal representative/lawyer appealed asserting for the first time that the claim was untimely. On appeal, the Fourth District reversed and held that the circuit court had no authority to order payment. It held that Barnett Bank was forever barred from filing its claim since it did not do so within three months of publication of the notice of administration. Further, it found "no suggestion that the personal representative created an estoppel by [his] conduct. ..." In re Estate of Read, 472 So.2d 1271, 1273 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

Barnett Bank invoked this court's jurisdiction based on conflict between the Fourth District's decision and decisions of other district courts and of this court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Although Barnett Bank's claim against the estate was not timely filed, the personal representative who was also the lawyer for the estate made no objection to it. At the hearing on an unanswered Petition for Payment and Enforcement of Claim, Barnett Bank proved that the full amount of

the claim was due and owing and also introduced evidence of estoppel against the personal representative. At this point the Bank was under no obligation to present such estoppel evidence but did so out of an abundance of caution. The circuit court properly ordered payment of the claim.

If the personal representative had objected to the claim based on lateness, Barnett Bank would have had an opportunity to fully litigate the estoppel issue and to show that the personal representative's own conduct estopped him from asserting the statute of limitations. Barnett Bank was at least entitled to a hearing on the issue of estoppel.

The absence of any objection from the personal representative effected a waiver of the affirmative defense of lateness. The District Court found the trial court in "fundamental error" because "it failed to detect and enforce the unpled affirmative defense". (Hurley, J. dissenting) In so ruling the DCA placed the petitioner in a fundamentally unfair position. The court preempted an issue which the Bank never had an opportunity to litigate.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FOURTH DISTRICT ERRED IN REVERSING THE CIRCUIT COURT'S ORDER DIRECTING PAYMENT OF THE CLAIM AGAINST THE ESTATE WHERE THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE FILED NO OBJECTION TO THE CLAIM OR PETITION AND THE CREDITOR PROVED THAT THE FULL AMOUNT OF THE CLAIM WAS DUE AND OWING.

Section 733.702, Florida Statutes (1983) entitled Limitations on presentation of claims provides:

(1) No claim or demand against the decedent's estate that arose before the death of the decedent ... shall be binding on the estate, on the personal representative, or on any beneficiary unless presented:

(a) Within 3 months from the time of the first publication of the notice of administration, even though the personal representative has recognized the claim or demand by paying a part of it or interest on it or otherwise.

The Fourth District held the above provision to be a jurisdictional statute of nonclaim, so that Barnett Bank's claim was automatically barred since it was not timely filed. However, §733.702, Florida Statutes is not a jurisdictional statute of nonclaim but rather a statute of limitations that must be affirmatively pled.¹ The personal

Section 733.702 is in terms of "Limitations" and the same word "Limitations" is used in Chapter 95 governing the general subject.

representative took no action to object to the claim even though he was served with formal notice of the Petition for Payment and Enforcement of Claim. At the hearing on the petition, Barnett Bank showed that the full amount of the claim was due and owing. The circuit court therefore properly ordered payment of the claim. Without ever raising the issue of lateness in the probate court the personal representative was allowed to appeal and to prevail.

In <u>Goggin v. Shanley</u>, 81 So.2d 728 (Fla. 1955), Shanley filed a claim against an estate in May 1952. In February 1953 the executrices moved to strike the claim on the ground that it was barred by the statute of limitations. The probate court agreed with the executrices and ruled that the claim was barred by the statute of limitations. The circuit court, on appeal, reversed and held that the probate judge was without authority to adjudicate Shanley's claim but could do no more than order payment of the claim since the executrices failed to raise any objection to its payment. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the circuit court and said:

> ...It appears that the validity of the Shanley claim turned on the determination of conflicting evidence which could have been determined by a jury if the executrices had seasonably objected to it. Miss Shanley's right to sue certainly was not forfeited because there was no objection to her claim.

The Circuit Judge correctly found the basic point in the case to be that the personal representatives of decedent and not the Judge is charged with responsi-Probate bility for administering the estate and is liable for his acts of omission. Had the claim in question been objected to and suit timely brought, payment could have appropriately been rejected, regardless of its merits. The executrices should not now be permitted to ignore the statute of limitations and in the same breath implore the court to raise it against the creditor. Failure of the personal representatives to act should not be permitted to destroy Miss Shanley's right to compensation. 81 So.2d at 729.

In <u>Harbour House Properties</u>, Inc. v. Estate of Stone, 443 So.2d 136 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), creditor untimely filed a claim against the estate, to which the personal representative responded with a motion to strike. On appeal from the trial court's order granting the motion, the Third District reversed and held:

> Section 733.702, Florida Statutes (1981) its predecessors are not nonclaims and statutes but guidelines for judicial procedure which may be relaxed in the sound discretion of the probate court for good cause shown. See In re Jeffries' Estate, 136 Fla. 410, 181 So. 833 (1938). In <u>Davis v. Evans</u>, 132 So.2d 476, 482 (Fla. 1st DCA 1961), that court acknowledged that circumstances may exist which will creditor from the excuse а apparently absolute bar on the face of the That is the principle which governs statute. disposition of the present controversy. 443 So.2d at 137.

See also In re Estate of Peterson, 433 So.2d 1358 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) where the court recognized that even if a claim

against an estate is untimely filed, certain exceptions such as estoppel preserve the claim and toll the statute of limitations.

In <u>Stern v. First National Bank of South Miami</u>, 275 So.2d 58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973), a creditor filed a complaint against decedent for breach of a lease agreement. The personal representative filed a motion to dismiss the complaint, stating that no claim had been filed against decedent's estate pursuant to §733.16(1), Florida Statutes (now §733.702, Florida Statutes). The trial court dismissed the complaint. The appellate court reversed the dismissal and said:

> ... it was reversible error for the trial court to dismiss appellant's complaint based on failure of appellant to comply with the provisions of §733.16, Fla.Stat., F.S.A. If the appellee desired to take advantage of this alleged statutory bar, he should have pleaded the same as an affirmative defense. Then, if the appellant desired to show that the statute was not applicable to his cause of action, he would be privileged to file additional pleadings raising such questions. ... 275 So.2d at 61.

Similarly, in <u>Phillips v. Ostrer</u>, 418 So.2d 1104, 1106 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), <u>rev. denied</u>, 429 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1983), the court held:

It was ... error for the trial court to grant a summary judgment on the affirmative defense of statute of limitations ... when this affirmative defense was not pleaded. Affirmative defenses not pleaded are deemed to be waived.

It is clear from the foregoing cases that Section 733.702, Florida Statutes, is not a jurisdictional statute of nonclaim but rather a statute of limitations which must be affirmatively pled. A personal representative cannot stand by and take no action when a claim against the estate is untimely filed and further simply choose not to answer a Petition for Payment and Enforcement of Claim. Rather, he must file a motion to strike or other objection. Such a motion or objection will be granted unless the creditor can demonstrate a legal basis for excusing the lateness of the claim. Only through this procedure will a creditor have an opportunity to show that an exception to the statute of limitations exists. If an exception does exist, the claim is preserved even though it is untimely. In re Estate of Peterson, supra. Contrary to the Fourth District's holding, the circuit court in this case was well within its authority to order payment of the claim, since the personal representative took no action to object to the claim or to the Petition for Payment and Enforcement of Claim. In fact, the circuit court would have erred had it not ordered payment

since Barnett Bank proved that the full amount of the claim was due and owing.

The District Court's opinion also erred in relying on the doctrine of fundamental error to circumvent the legal requirement of pleading an affirmative defense. Judge Hurley's dissenting opinion is an excellent discussion of this issue. As he points out:

> Florida has a host of cases, including several from this court, which hold that section 733.702 is a statute of limitations. Some of these cases are explicit. See, e.g., Harbour House Properties, Inc. v. Estate of Stone, 443 So.2d 136, 137 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); Grossman v. Selewacz, 417 So.2d 728 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); In re Estate of Gay, 294 So.2d 668, (Fla. 4th DCA 1974); Stern v. First 669 National Bank of South Miami, 275 So.2d 58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973). Other cases implicitly 733.702 statute of designate section а limitations because they permit claimants who assert valid estoppel arguments to overcome the statutory bar. See, e.g., In re Estate of Peterson, 433 So.2d 1358 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); Picchione v. Asti, 354 So.2d 954 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); North v. Culmer, 193 So.2d 701 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967), overruled on other grounds, Rinker Materials Corp. v. Palmer First National Bank and Trust Co. of Sarasota, 361 So.2d 156 (Fla. 1978). If the statute were a jurisdictional statute of non-claim, an estoppel argument could not be asserted to prevent application of the statutory bar. Miller v. Nolte, 453 So.2d 397, 401 (Fla. 1984).

> Thus, it is inescapable that section 733.702 is a statute of limitations. As such, it is an affirmative defense which must be pled. See Rule 1.110(d), Fla.R.Civ.P.

Because it was not asserted by the personal representative the defense of statute of limitations was waived. The Fourth District's decision is not a legally correct result nor is it a practical result. If this decision stands all late filed claims (3 months and 1 day) should be simply filed and the probate court should do nothing with them. A personal representative, before the court on other related estate matters, should remain totally silent. Even if an order requiring payment is entered after notice to him, the personal representative should do absolutely nothing before the probate judge but should instead proceed directly on appeal. Here the personal representative will be able to argue the absence of estoppel and there would be no evidence on this issue in the record. This simply should not be the law. It is particularly noteworthy here that the personal representative is also the attorney for the estate. As stated by Judge Hurley, the majority decision "effectively overrules established principles of law and sets an unwieldly and ... unsound precedent."

POINT II

PETITIONER WAS ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON THE ISSUE OF WHETHER THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE WAS ESTOPPED TO ASSERT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

The Fourth District found that there was no suggestion in the record that the personal representative created an estoppel by his own conduct so as to toll the statute of limitations. This holding was in error for two reasons. First, Barnett Bank did not have a duty or opportunity to plead or prove estoppel because the personal representative filed no objection to the claim. Second, the record did contain evidence of conduct by the personal representative which was sufficient to invoke the doctrine of estoppel. This evidence was in a letter from the personal representative where he confirmed an earlier conversation with bank officials about the lack of necessity for filing the claim.

In <u>Harbour House Properties</u>, Inc. v. Estate of Stone, 443 So.2d 136, 138 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), the court held:

> ... the conduct of the personal representative was such that the creditor manifestly was evidentiary entitled an hearing to to determine whether the acts, representations, and conduct of the personal representative and his agent had lulled the creditor into a false sense of security concerning the need for the the presentation of a claim and whether representative ought therefore be personal estopped to deny the presentation of the claim. Davis v. Evans.

For the foregoing reasons, the order appealed from is reversed with directions to afford the creditor an evidentiary hearing upon his claimed excuse for not timely and properly presenting the claim against the decedent's estate.

In <u>Davis v. Evans</u>, 132 So.2d 476 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 136 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1961), the court recognized the time period for filing claims against an estate. Nevertheless it held that the doctrine of estoppel operates to toll the statute of limitations in cases wherein the following elements are present:

> (1) a representation by the party estopped to the party claiming the estoppel as to some material fact, which representation is contrary to the condition of affairs later asserted by the estopped party; (2) a reliance upon this representation by the party claiming the estoppel; and (3) a change in the position of the party claiming the estoppel to his detriment, caused by the representation and his reliance thereon. 132 So.2d at 481.

In the instant case, the personal representative told the president and vice-president of Barnett Bank, at the time that he opened the estate account shortly after the death of the decedent, that the estate would recognize the proper amounts due without the necessity of the bank's filing a formal claim. He subsequently wrote a letter confirming his statements (R 48). Barnett Bank relied on that affirmative misrepresentation, did not timely file its

claim, and as a result changed its position to its detriment. Barnett Bank is at least entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the issue of whether the personal representative's conduct was sufficient to invoke the doctrine of estoppel. If there are deficiencies in Petitioner's proof of estoppel it is not surprising. It was never called upon to prove it and introduction of the letter of October 21, 1983, was merely an exercise of noteworthy caution on counsel's part.

CONCLUSION

The decision of the Fourth District should be quashed and the order of the circuit court reinstated or, in the alternative, the cause should be remanded to the circuit court for an evidentiary hearing on the issue of estoppel. The personal representative should not have been allowed to raise the statute of limitations on appeal when it was never raised in the probate court.

CROMWELL & REMSEN FREEMAN W. BARNER, JR., P.A. Barnett Bank Bldg. 2001 Broadway, 6th Floor Riviera Beach, FL 33404 (305) 844-2541 JOHN R. BERANEK, of KLEIN & BERANEK, P.A. Suite 503-Flagler Center 501 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (305) 659-5455

JOHN R. BERANEK