IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Tallahassee, Florida

CASE NO. 67,643

BARNETT BANK OF PALM BEACH COUNTY,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE ESTATE OF LEON HENRY READ, JR., Deceased.

Respondent.



RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD F. RALPH, Law Offices Of Counsel

RICHARD F. RALPH RODERICK F. COLEMAN Attorneys for Respondent 1030 Ingraham Building 25 Southeast Second Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-0637

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is before this Court on conflict certiorari. The Fourth District Court of Appeal, in accord with prior decisions of this Court and the express statutory language involved, reversed an order of the Circuit Court which allowed payment of a claim filed against an estate seven and one-half months after the three-month claim period had expired (R. 50-51).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The only disagreement with appellant's statement of the facts is appellant's allegation that Richard Ralph was the lawyer, or was acting as the lawyer, for the estate at the time he went to Barnett Bank (hereinafter referred to as the bank) as personal representative to open the estate account.

The only fact which appellee feels needs to be added is that the bank's petition for payment and enforcement of its secured claim filed with the Circuit Court was apparently written in a manner to give the Circuit Court the impression the Bank had filed a timely claim and that the personal representative had not objected to the claim within the four-month period subsequent to the notice of first publication (R. 34-38).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Sections 733.701 and 733.702, Fla. Stats. provide that all claims against an estate must be filed with the Court within a stated time and that this filing requirement cannot be waived by the personal representative. Because a personal representative cannot waive the filing requirement, there is no necessity for the personal representative to raise a creditor's lack of timely filing as an affirmative defense. timely claim is a condition precedent to the validity of any claim.

Even though a personal representative recognizes an estate's obligation to a creditor prior to the expiration of the time for filing claims, §\$733.701 and 733.702, Fla. Stats. provide that a personal representative is not estopped to assert the absolute bar when a creditor does not file a timely claim. Once barred, a claim is not revived by a subsequent acknowledgement of the debt by the personal representative.

Should this Court hold that a personal representative can be estopped to raise the bar of §§733.701 and 733.702, Fla. Stats., the bank is precluded from arguing estoppel on appeal because it did not raise the issue in the Probate Court. If the bank did raise the issue below, the personal representative's acknowledgement of the debt <u>sub</u> <u>judice</u>

does not give rise to estoppel as a matter of law.

Finally, if this Court were to reinstate the order of the Circuit Court, there is the issue as to the propriety of the award of attorneys fees to the bank. If a secured creditor as alleged, the bank could have foreclosed on its security interest and avoided the bulk of fees which it incurred.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

SECTION 733.702, FLA. STAT. PROVIDES THAT A PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE CANNOT WAIVE ITS PROVISIONS; THEREFORE, A PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE IS NOT REQUIRED TO FILE AN OBJECTION TO A CLAIM NOT FILED WITHIN THE THREE-MONTH CLAIM PERIOD.

Section 733.701 and 733.702, Fla. Stats. (1983), provide that if a claim against an estate is not filed with the Clerk of the Court by a creditor within three months from the date of first publication of the letters of administration, the claim is forever barred. This Court, in Twomey v. Clausohm, 234 So2d 338 (Fla. 1970), held that the personal representative cannot waive the provisions of this non-claim statute. This Court held that Fla. Laws 1961, ch. 61-394, which remains in §733.702, Fla. Stat.:

preclude(s) the possibility of a waiver of the filing requirement arising out

of action by a personal representative.

* * *

The conclusion which we reach in the matter at hand is not inconsistent with these earlier cases. We now simply deal with a more positive, clear-cut legislative insistence that all claims be filed in the Court and filing cannot be waived by the personal representative.

* * *

When, as here, a valid legislative mandate is clear, we do not have the judicial power to ignore it or otherwise hold it for naught merely because we personally think the problem should be handled in some other fashion. 234 So2d at p. 340-341.

Because the personal representative cannot waive the provisions of \$733.702, Fla. Stat., there is no requirement to raise the statute as an affirmative defense to a late-filed claim with the Probate Court. The Court will have a record which will demonstrate the untimeliness of the creditor's claim, In re Estate of Read, 472 So2d 1271, 1273 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). As was held in U.S. v. Embry, 199 So. 41 (Fla. 1940):

As to all claimants but the United States, if filed after [3] months, it would be the duty of the probate judge to declare them void. 199 So. at p. 42.

This is to be distinguished from the situation, not applicable here, where the statute must be plead as an affirmative defense to a suit brought outside of probate unless the Court is made aware through the complaint, admission of a party, or motion to dismiss,

that the claim is untimely. **Grossman v. Selewacz**, 417 So2d 728 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

A waiver can be by an affirmative act or non-action. This Court held in **Twomey** that the personal representative could not waive the provisions of the statute. **Twomey** involved waiver by an affirmative act. **Twomey** must also apply to waiver by non-action or the legislature's insistence that all claims be filed and that filing cannot be waived would be meaningless because a personal representative could, by design, not file an objection and thereby avoid the non-claim bar.

Goggin v. Shanley, 81 So2d 728 (Fla. 1955), cited by the bank at page 9 of its brief, is not controlling because Goggin involved a statute which "did not preclude the possibility of a waiver of the filing requirement arising out of action by a personal representative", Twomey, supra, at 340. Additionally, the basis for the decision in Goggin, cited by the bank at page 10, is irrational. A creditor does not lose its right to compensation or right to bring an action on a claim because the personal representative does not object to the claim. A creditor loses its right if they do not file a timely claim. Complying with §\$733.701 and 733.702, Fla. Stats. is a condition precedent to the validity of any claim.

It should be noted that at the time the late claim was filed in the Probate Court, there was no provision

in Florida Statutes (1984) or Florida Rules of Probate and Guardianship Procedure for a personal representative to object to a late claim. This fact supports the personal representative's belief that the Probate Judge had the duty to declare the claim void. Since that time, however, the legislature has enacted Fla. Laws 1984, ch. 84-25, section 2, effective May 15, 1984, which provides for filing objections to claims within four months from the first publication of notice of administration or thirty days from the filing of a claim, whichever occurs later. Whatever the implication of this statute, suffice it to say that it was not effective as to the personal representative <u>sub judice</u>.

POINT II

THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE'S RECOGNITION OF THE DECEDENT'S DEBT IN THIS CASE DOES NOT ESTOP THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE FROM ASSERTING THE BAR OF \$733.702, FLA. STAT. WHERE THE STATUTE EXPRESSLY PROVIDES THAT ALL CLAIMS ARE BARRED IF NOT TIMELY FILED, EVEN WHEN THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE RECOGNIZES THE CLAIM.

Sections 733.701 and 733.702, Fla. Stats. of such, the non-claim. As personal statutes representative cannot be estopped to assert the absolute In Miller v. Nolte, 453 So2d 397 (Fla. 1984), this bar. Court held that an estoppel argument could not be asserted to prevent application of a statutory bar. Nolte is applicable here, particularly since the statute itself provides that all claims are barred unless timely filed, even if the personal representative has recognized the claim "by paying a part of it or interest on it or otherwise", \$733.702(a), Fla. Stat. [emphasis added].

The personal representative's actions in the case <u>sub judice</u> amount to no more than the protected activity of the statute. The statute expressly provides that recognition by the personal representative of the debt does not excuse the filing requirement. Furthermore, where a claim has become barred, the claim cannot be revived by an acknowledgment of the debt by the personal representative, Patterson v. Cobb, 4 Fla. 481 (Fla. 1852).

Although several cases since Twomey have permitted arguments to overcome the absolute estoppel bar §733.702, Fla. Stat., the rationale of these cases was disapproved of by **Twomey**. Twomey expressly held that as a result of the amendment to the statute by Fla. Laws 1961, ch. 61-394, there can be no exception to the bar as was permitted in Ramseyer v. Datson, 162 So. 904 (Fla. 1935). In Ramseyer, a claim was presented by the personal representative within the statutory time and the personal representative executed three promissory notes acknowledging the debt and paid interest thereon. on this, the creditor did not file his claim in the Probate Court until after the time for filing claims had expired. The personal representative made no objection and the

Probate Court ordered payment. When the personal representative later raised the bar as a defense, the Court held that the personal representative could not assert the bar.

By expressly disapproving Ramseyer, this Court has disapproved the basis of all the cases cited by the bank as supporting any estoppel theory against the personal representative.

As noted in Point I above, it is not the personal representative's action that has prejudiced the bank. It was the bank's own failure to file a timely claim that has caused their claim to become barred.

Whether this Court determines that \$733.702, Fla. Stat. is a statute of non-claim or a non-waivable statute limitations, the result in this case is the same. As the Fourth District Court of Appeal determined, the actions of the personal representative sub judice did not, as a matter of law, give rise to an estoppel because the legislature has provided t.hat. the personal representative is not estopped "even though the personal representative has recognized the claim or demand by paying a part of it or interest on it or otherwise", \$733.702(a), Fla. Stat.

POINT III

THE BANK CANNOT RAISE THE ISSUE OF ESTOPPEL FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL; BUT, IF IT COULD, THE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE'S ACTION DID NOT GIVE RISE TO AN ESTOPPEL AS A MATTER OF LAW.

If there are grounds to avoid the non-claim statute and if the bank had those grounds, the procedure it should have followed would have been to plead in avoidance of the non-claim statute at the time their claim was sought to be filed. Having proceeded to imply that their claim was timely filed, the bank cannot convert either its void claim or its petition for payment and enforcement of claim into a motion for extension of time to file a claim. A party cannot assert matters for the first time on appeal which are waived if not raised below. Dover v. Worrell, 401 So2d 1322 (Fla. 1981); Goodman v. Habif, 424 So2d 171 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983).

If this Court determines that the bank did raise the issue of estoppel below, this Court can rule on the issue as a matter of law because the evidence the bank seeks to rely on for its estoppel argument is in the record at page 48. And, under the express wording of the statute, the personal representative's acknowledgement of the debt <u>sub judice</u> does not give rise to estoppel as a matter of law.

POINT IV

THE CIRCUIT COURT SHOULD NOT HAVE AWARDED ATTORNEYS FEES TO THE BANK.

A party should not be awarded attorneys fees where they have not been reasonably incurred. The bank's late claim asserted that they were a secured creditor (R. 31). If a secured creditor as alleged, the bank should have

foreclosed on its security interest.

If a secured party fails to file a timely claim against the estate within the prescribed period, it may look only to the secured assets for recovery, In re Comstock's Estate, 197 So. 121 (Fla. 1940).

Foreclosing would have been the reasonable way to proceed and would have avoided any issue as to the bank's failure to timely file a claim since secured assets do not become part of a decedent's estate, Grossman v. Selewacz, supra.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the express legislative directive has been heeded and the District Court of Appeal's reversal of the Circuit Court's order granting payment of the Bank's late claim should be upheld.